#### DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 319 668 SO 020 895

AUTHOR Gertler, Paul; Glewwe, Paul

TITLE The Willingness To Pay for Education in Developing

Countries: Evidence from Rural Peru. Living Standards

Measurement Study Working Paper No. 54.

INSTITUTION World Bank, Washington, D. C.

REPORT NO ISBN-0-8213-1170-0

PUB DATE 89 NOTE 59p.

AVAILABLE FROM Publication Sales Unit, Department F, World Bank,

1818 H Street N.W., Washington, DC 20433.

PUB TYPE Reports - Research/Technical (143)

EDRS PRICE MF01 Plus Postage. PC Not Available from EDRS.

DESCRIPTORS \*Access to Education; Case Studies; \*Developing

Nations; \*Economic Factors; \*Educational Development;

\*Educational Finance; Educational Planning; \*Educational Policy; Foreign Countries; Global

Approach; Primary Education

IDENTIFIERS \*Peru

#### ABSTRACT

Schools in developing nations tend to be concentrated in urban areas, making it necessary for children living in rural areas to travel long distances to attend school. Government resources are limited and many countries have limited education expenditures due to faltering economic growth. Since government is the principal provider of education and the demand far exceeds the supply, some economists are now advocating increasing school fees to fund education improvements. Using a theoretical model of the demand for schooling and the principle of compensating variations, this study calculated parental willingness to pay for new secondary schools in rural areas of Peru. The results showed that even those in the poorest quarter of the Peruvian income distribution sector were willing to pay fees high enough to cover operating costs of opening new secondary schools in rural villages. An extensive list of statistical tables and a 25-item bibliography are included in the report. (NL)

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

Reproductions supplied by EDRS are the best that can be made

from the original document.



## The Willingness to Pay for Education in Developing Countries

**Evidence from Rural Peru** 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION
Office of Educational Research and Improver EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)

50

This document has been reproduced as received from the person or organization originating it.

☐ Minor changes have bean made to improve reproduction quality

Points of view or opiniona stated in this docu-ment do not necessarily represent official OERI position or policy

"PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE THIS MATERIAL IN MICROFICHE ONLY HAS BEEN GRANTED BY

TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)."

## **LSMS Working Papers**

	-
No. 1	Living Standards Surveys in Developing Countries
No. 2	Poverty and Living Standa <sup>-</sup> ds in Asia: An Overview of the Main Results and Lessons of Selected Household Surveys
No. 3	Measuring Levels of Living in Latin America: An Overview of Main Problems
No. 4	Towards More Effective Measurement of Levels of Living, and Review of Work of the United Nations Statistical Office (UNSO) Related to Statistics of Levels of Living
No. 5	Conducting Surveys in Developing Countries: Practical Problems and Experience in Brazil, Malaysia, and the Philippines
No. 6	Household Survey Experience in Africa
No. 7	Measurement of Welfare: Theory and Practical Guidelines
No. 8	Employment Data for the Measurement of Living Standards
No. 9	Income and Expenditure Surveys in Developing Countries: Sample Design and Execution
э. 10	Reflections on the LSMS Group Meeting
.o. 11	Three Essays on a Sri Lanka Household Survey
No. 12	The ECIEL Study of Household Income and Consumption in Urban Latin America: An Analytical History
No. 13	Nutrition and Health Status Indicators: Suggestions for Surveys of the Standard of Living in Developing Countries
No. 14	Child Schooling and the Measurement of Living Standards
No. 15	Measuring Health as a Component of Living Standards
No. 16	Procedures for Collecting and Analyzing Mortality Data in LSMS
No. 17	The Labor Market and Social Accounting: A Framework of Data Presentation
No. 18	Time Use Data and the Living Standards Measurement Study
No. 19	The Conceptual Basis of Measures of Household Welfare and Their Implied Survey Data Requirements
No. 20	Statistical Experimentation for Household Surveys: Two Case Studies of Hong Kong
No. 21	The Collection of Price Data for the Measurement of Living Standards
No. 22	Household Expenditure Surveys: Some Methodological Issues
No. 23	Collecting Panel Data in Developing Countries: Does it Make Ser
No. 24	Measuring and Analyzing Levels of Living in Developing Countries: An Annotated Questionnaire
No. 25	The Demand for Urban Housing in the Ivory Coast
No. 26	The Côte d'Ivoire Living Standards Survey: Design and Implementation
No. 27	The Role of Employment and Earnings in Analyzing Levels of Living: A General Methodology with Applications to Malaysia and Thailand
No. 28	Analysis of Household Expenditures
No. 29	The Distribution of Welfare in Côte d' 1n 1985
No. 30	Quality, Quantity, and Spatial Variation of Price: Estimating Price Elasticities from Cross-sectional Data
No. 31	Financing the Health Sector in Peru
No. 32	Informal Sector, Labor Markets, and Returns to Education in Peru
No. 33	Wage Determinants in Côte d'Ivoire
No. 34	Guidelines for Adapting the LSMS Living Standards Questionnaires to Local Conditions

(List continues on the inside back cover)



# The Willingness to Pay for Education in Developing Countries

**Evidence from Rural Peru** 



## The Living Standards Measurement Study

The Living Standards Measurement Study (LSMS) was established by the World Bank in 1980 to explore ways of improving the type and quality of household data collected by statistical offices in developing countries. Its goal is to foster increased use of household data as a basis for policy decisionmaking. Specifically, the LSMS is working to develop new methods to monitor progress in raising levels of living, to identify the consequences for households of past and proposed government policies, and to improve communications between survey statisticians, analysts, and policymakers.

The LSMS Working Paper series was started to disseminate intermediate products from the LSMS. Publications in the series include critical surveys covering different aspects of the LSMS data collection program and reports on improved methodologies for using Living Standards Survey (LSS) data. More recent publications recommend specific survey, questionnaire, and data processing designs, and demonstrate the breadth of policy analysis that can be carried out using

LSS data.



## LSMS Working Paper Number 54

# The Willingness to Pay for Education in Developing Countries

**Evidence from Rural Peru** 

Paul Gertler Paul Glewwe

The World Bank Washington, D.C., U.S.A.



Copyright © 1989
The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/THE WORLD BANK
1818 H Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20433, U.S.A.

All rights reserved Manufactured in the United States of America First printing July 1989

This is a working paper published informally by the World Bank. To present the results of research with the least possible delay, the typescript has not been prepared in accordance with the procedures appropriate to formal printed texts, and the World Bank accepts no responsibility for errors.

The findings, interpretations, and conclusions expressed in this paper are entirely those of the author(s) and should not be attributed in any manner to the World Bank, to its affiliated organizations, or to members of its Board of Executive Directors or the countries they represent. Any maps that accompany the text have been prepared solely for the convenience of readers; the designations and presentation of material in them do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Bank, its affiliates, or its Board or member countries concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city, or area or of the authorities thereof or concerning the delimitation of its boundaries or its national affiliation.

The material in this publication is copyrighted. Requests for permission to reproduce portions of it should be sent to Director, Publications Department at the address shown in the copyright notice above. The World Bank encourages dissemination of its work and will normally give permission promptly and, when the reproduction is for noncommercial purposes, without asking a fee. Permission to photocopy portions for classroom use is not required, though notification of such use having been made will be appreciated.

The complete backlist of publications from the World Bank is shown in the annual *Index of Publications*, which contains an alphabetical title list and indexes of subjects, authors, and countries and regions; it is of value principally to libraries and institutional purchasers. The latest edition is available free of charge from the Publications Sales Unit, Department F, The World Bank, 1818 H Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20433, U.S.A., or from Publications, The World Bank, 66, avenue d'Iéna, 75116 Paris, France.

Paul Gertler, an economist at The Rand Corporation in Santa Monica, California, is a consultant to the Welfare and Human Resources Division of the World Bank's Population and Human Resources Department. Paul Glewwe is an economist in the same division and department at the World Bank.

#### Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Gertler, Paul, 1955-

The willingness to pay for education in developing countries.

(ISMS working papers, ISSN 0253-4517; no. 54) Bibliography: p.

1. Education, Secondary--Developing countries--Finance --Case studies. 2. User charges--Developing countries--Case studies. 3. Parents--Developing countries--Finance, Personal--Case studies. 4. Education, Secondary--Peru-Finance--Case studies. I. Glewwe, Paul, 1958-.

II. Title. III. Series: LSMS working paper; no. 54. LB2826.6.D44G47 1989 379.1'13'091724 89-5366 ISBN 0-8213-1170-0



#### **ABSTRACT**

In recent years, citing the low price elasticity of demand for schooling, some economists have advocated increasing school fees to raise revenue for educational improvements in developing countries. But elasticities alone are not enough - one must estimate the willingness to pay for schooling improvements to see whether higher fees are in fact desirable. Using a rigorous theoretical model of the demand for schooling and the principle of compensating variations, we calculate the willingness to pay for new secondary schools in rural Peru. We find that rural Peruvian households are indeed willing to pay fees high enough to more than cover the operating costs of opening new secondary schools in their villages. This is even true of the poorest quarter of the income distribution.



## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ı.	Introduction	L
	User Fees and Willingness to Pay for Education	
III.	A Model of the Demand for Schooling	
IV.	Empirical Specification	3
	The Conditional Utility Function	, 5
	The Demand Functions and Welfare18	3
v.	Data2	L
VI.	Results2	3
VII.	Price Elasticities	1
	Welfare Neutral Prices	
IX.	Conclusion3	6
	References3	٤
	Appendix I4	1
	Appendix II4	-



## LIST OF TABLES

Table	1.	Secondary School Enrollment in Rural Peru by Expenditure Groups4
Table	2.	Secondary School Enrollment in Rural Peru by Travel Time to School
Table	3.	Mean Hours Per Week in Activities of Potential Secondary Students: Rural Peru 1985-8611
Table	4.	Definitions of Variables23
Table	5.	Descriptive Statistics26
Table	6.	Nested Multinominal Logit of Demand for Schooling29
Table	7.	Arc Price Elasticities for Secondary Educatio
Table	8.	Willingness to Pay to Reduce Travel Time to Secondary School: June 1985 Intis per year and Percent of Income35
Table	<b>A.</b> 1	Regression Estimates of Hours in School42
Table	A.2	Estimates of Hours Worked by Students and Non-Students45
Table	A.3	Nested Multinominal Logit of Demand for Schooling46
Table	<b>L.4</b>	Arc Price Elasticities for Secondary Education47
Table	A.5	Willingness to Pay to Reduce Travel Time to Secondary School



#### I. INTRODUCTION

Education is arguably one of the most important means of raising worker productivity and thus of raising incomes in developing countries.

Almost all developing countries have committed sizeable resources to this end in the last few decades. Schools, though, tend to be concentrated in urban areas so that children living in rural areas must often travel long distances to school. Unfortunately, government resources available for expanding rural school systems and for other objectives are limited. This is particularly true in the 1980's as many developing countries have had to limit education expenditures due to faltering economic growth (World Bank, 1986).

In most developing countries the government is the principal, if not the sole, provider of education. In order to promote enrollment, many governments offer educational opportunities at little or no cost, which can lead to situations where the demand for education far exceeds supply. This possibility has led some to suggest that households should pay a school fee (tuition) so as to raise additional revenues that can be used to improve school quality and build new schools, particularly in rural areas (Thobani, 1983; Birdsall, 1983; World Bank, 1986; Jimenez, 1987). These suggestions are not always well received since the provision of free education is often viewed as a goal in itself. Further, some have argued that raising fees will reduce educational attainment among the poor and thus exacerbate inequality (Klees, 1984; Cornea, Jolly and Stewart, 1987).

The issues here must ultimately be resolved by examining empirical evidence. In this paper we characterize the user fee debate in terms of how



much families are willing to pay for improvements in the educational system, where a household's willingness to pay is measured as a compensating variation. We specify a utility maximizing model of school enrollment decisions that yields an empirical specification of the demand for schooling from which estimates of willingness to pay are calculated. This model uses a discrete choice framework that includes a price-income interaction in the demand functions. Thus, the model allows price elasticities and willingness to pay to vary by income. As a result we are able to consider the distributional effects of user fees.



### II. USER FRES AND WILLINGNESS TO PAY FOR EDUCATION

Most of the debate over user fees has focused on the price elasticity of the demand for schooling; i.e. the effect of increased school fees on enrollment. 1/2 Yet, the ultimate effect of school fees on enrollment depends on how the funds raised from these fees are used. If they are used to improve schools - e.g. raise quality or build new schools so as to reduce travel time - they may actually encourage school attendance. Whether such a policy actually leads to an increase in household welfare, though, 2/2 depends on how much households are willing to pay for the improvements. 3/2 If the amount families are willing to pay for the improvement is greater than the marginal cost of the improvement, the government can increase user fees to pay for improvements in a way that raises welfare. If, on the other hand, the willingness to pay is below marginal cost, a subsidy to cover the difference would be required to make the policy welfare increasing.

Advocates of increased school fees believe that households are willing to pay the cost of improving schools and thus would be better off if



 $<sup>\</sup>frac{1}{2}$  Jimenez (1987) provides an excellent survey of this literature.

Although increased enrollment usually implies higher welfare, it is possible that welfare and enrollment will move in opposite directions after simultaneous changes in both the price and the quality of education (Katz, 1987).

The amount families are willing to pay is the income that they must be given to make them just as well off after a reduction in quality or an increase in travel time as they were before the change — i.e. the compensating variation. The compensating variation is the difference in the areas under the old and new Hicksian demand curves. Price elasticities alone do not allow for calculation of willingness to pay because elasticities do not indicate the location of the demand curve.

school fees were raised to pay for improvements in schooling. Critics doubt that households are willing to pay for improvements, and they are also worried that willingness to pay among the poor is substantially less than among wealthier families. If this were true, raising user fees would reduce household welfare and generally reduce school enrollment, especially among the poor. Indeed Table 1 shows that poorer families are less likely to send their children to secondary school than are wealthier families in rural Peru. In our analysis we explicitly explore these distributional issues.

TABLE 1: Secondary School Enrollment in Rural Peru by Expenditure Groups

Expenditure Group	Enrollment Rate
Poorest 25%	40%
Lower Middle 25%	44%
Upper Middle 25%	51%
Wealthiest 25%	55 <b>%</b>

Source: 1985-86 PLSS data. Expenditure groups are based on per capita expenditures.

Are households in fact willing to pay for improvements in schooling services? Fee advocates (e.g. Thobani, 1983) suggest that if rationing is observed there is a prima facie case for raising fees to build more schools because rationing implies excess demand for places in school. But this begs the question of how one observes school places being rationed. One form of



Critics may also fear that user fees will be used in place of general revenues for schooling, so that promises to improve schooling are never kept and households face the same educational opportunities at a higher price than before.

rationing is that the number of places may be limited so that children are turned away at the school door according to criteria such as age or test scores. In this case, some families who demand schooling at the current price are explicitly rationed out. Alternatively, places could be rationed implicitly by locating schools far away from some rural communities (Birdsall, 1983). In this case, enrollments are rationed by both direct transportation costs and the opportunity cost of time. Families who are willing to pay the fee as well as costs associated with distance can find places for their children, but those willing to pay the fee but not the distance costs are effectively priced out of the system. In Peru there is little evidence of explicit rationing at the secondary level. Rather, we observe implicit rationing as indicated by the skewed geographical distribution of schools and associated enrollment rates presented in Table 2 (see also World Bank, 1985, p. 62).

TABLE 2: Secondary School Enrollment in Rural Peru by Travel Time to School

One Way Travel Time to Nearest Secondary School	Percent of Sample in Category	Enrollment Rate
Less than 1 hour	59%	56%
1 - 2 hours	21%	42%
2 - 4 hours	15%	29%
More than 4 hours	<b>6%</b>	25%

Source: 1985 36 PLSS data.



The data in Table 2 suggest that building new secondary schools in areas where the nearest school is far away should increase enrollment. In order to reduce travel time, though, new schools must be built and new teachers hired. Thus, the real welfare question boils down to whether families in a village are willing to pay the cost of opening and operating a new school. 5/ To determine this one needs to estimate willingness to pay for reduced travel time, and how it varies by income. 6/ Cnce this is known, one can begin to assess whether user fees can be used to finance school improvements in developing countries and the extent to which user fees penalize the poor. In the following section, we develop a model which measures the willingness of rural households in Peru to pay for reduced travel time to secondary schools.



The issue here is whether school fees alone can be used to finance new schools. If families are unwilling to pay the full cost it does not follow that a new school should not be built, since the social benefits of raising education may be higher than the private benefits. Rather unwillingness to pay the full cost implies that, if the social benefits of a new school exceed the social costs, other sources of finance must be also tapped.

<sup>6/</sup> An analogous argument holds with respect to evaluating proposals to improve school quality with funds raised from higher user fees.

## III. A MODEL OF THE DEMAND FOR SCHOOLING

Education is both a consumption good and an investment good; it is valued for its own sake and because it provides future financial returns. Most observers would agree that all children should receive a primary education, and in many countries it may be advisable to raise secondary school enrollments as well. 7 The fact that some children are not attending school indicates that, in their parents' eyes, the advantages of sending their children to school are outweighed by the disadvantages. The advantages are the benefits that parents receive from well educated children, both direct material raturns (e.g. their children will support them in their old age) and the satisfaction of having educated and financially successful children. The main disadvantages to sending a child to school are the associated costs, which may be a heavier burden on poorer families. A family enrolls a child for another year of schooling if the benefics derived from schooling are greater than the associated costs.

We formalize this decision by adapting a general model of the willingness to pay for social services found in Gertler and van der Gaag (1988). We assume that every household has a utility function which depends on the human capital of its children and the consumption of all other goods and services. An investment in another year of schooling raises a child's human capital at the cost of reduced consumption of other goods and services. In any given year, the choice is discrete: Should the child be



Indeed Stelcner et al. (1987) report large returns to both primary and secondary education in Peru.

enrolled for another year of school? In rural Peru there are three choices faced by parents: (1) send their child to a local public school for the year; (2) send the child away from home to a more distant, but presumably higher quality, school; 8/ or (3) do not send the child to school. The price of sending children to school includes both direct money costs (fees and books) and the indirect cost of children's time in terms of reduced work, both housework and work outside the home. Farents compare the utility attained from the three options listed above and choose the option with the highest utility.

We begin formalizing the model by specifying the utility obtained from each option. Thus, let the expected utility conditional on sending a child to school be given by:

$$U_i = U(S_i, C_i) + \varepsilon_i, \qquad i = 1,f$$
 (1)

where  $S_i$  is the increment to a child's human capital from another year of education from school,  $C_i$  is the consumption possible after incurring both the direct and indirect costs of sending a child to school i, and  $\varepsilon_i$  is a random tarte shifter. The subscripts 1 and f refer to local and faraway (i.e. sending a child to live away from home) schools, respectively. If the parents decide not to send their child to either a local or faraway school utility will simply be:



This would in many, if not most, cases be a private school. Unfortunately our data do not indicate the type of school for children living away from home while attending school.

$$U_{o} = U(C_{o}) + \varepsilon_{o} = U(O, C_{o}) + \varepsilon_{o}$$
 (2)

where  $C_0$  is the consumption possible without incurring the direct and indirect costs of either schooling option and  $\epsilon_0$  is a random taste shifter.

Of course, the decision to send a child to school depends on the quality of education received. 9/ We formalize this by assuming that the higher the quality of education, the greater the increase in human capital (i.e. increase in S<sub>i</sub>) from another year of schooling, and therefore the higher the utility from the schooling option, ceteris paribus. One would normally expect that the only reason for a child to go to a faraway school is that such schools are of higher quality than the local school.

Both the faraway and local school options have associated budget constraints of the form:

$$C_i + P_i^* = C_o = Y, \quad i = 1, f.$$
 (3)

where  $P_1^*$  and  $P_f^*$  are the prices of sending the child to local and faraway schools for one year, respectively, and Y is yearly family disposable (net of savings) income.

The price of schooling involves both direct and indirect costs.

Direct costs include school fees, outlays for textbooks, and the like. The



Indeed, Behrman and Birdsall (1983, 1985) find the quality of schooling to be an important determinant of wages.

crucial indirect cost is the opportunity cost of children's time. In developing countries children's time is important because they often make substantial contributions to family income by working, including housework. Table 3 demonstrates that there are large differences in hours worked between students and non-students in rural Peru.

Both direct and indirect costs are not necessarily the same across households. Even if fees and textbook costs are the same for all households direct costs may vary due to differences in the distance to the nearest secondary school. Specifically, if the school is far away, direct outlays on transportation may be required, and if the school attended is so far away that children must live away from home, lodging costs are also incurred. Indirect costs may also vary due to both differences in work time lost due to school attendance and variation in child wage rates across geographic areas. The variation in direct and/or indirect costs allows one to estimate the effect of raising user fees on school enrollments.

We are now ready to discuss the utility maximization problem. The unconditional utility maximization problem is

$$\mathbf{U}^* = \max(\mathbf{U}_0, \mathbf{U}_1, \mathbf{U}_s) \tag{4}$$

where  $\mathbf{U}^*$  is maximum utility, and  $\mathbf{U}_0$ ,  $\mathbf{U}_1$  and  $\mathbf{U}_8$  are the <u>conditional</u> utility functions specified in (1) and (2), given the constraints in (3). Since these are stochastic terms in the utility function, the solution to the utility maximization problem gives the probability that each alternative is chosen. In a discrete choice model, the probability that an alternative is chosen can



TABLE 3: Mean Hours Per Week in Activities of Potential Secondary Students:
Rural Peru 1985-86

	Hours In School	Hours Working Outside the House	Hours Housework	Total Work Hours
Rural Costa				
Boys 10-14: Students	23,6	7.7	9.3	17.0
Not Students	0.0	21.3	6.8	28.1
Boys 15-18: Students	20.7	12.7	7.8	20.5
Not Students	0.0	26.8	5.0	31.8
Girls 10-14: Students	22.8	4.7	11.8	16.5
Not Students	0.0	11.8	15.8	27.6
Girls 15-18: Students	17.8	12.0	10,2	22,2
Not Students	0.0	12.3	26.5	38.8
			Average	19.1
Rural Sierra and Selva				31.6
Boys 10-14: Students	24.4	8.7	9.7	18.4
Not Students	0.0	25 <b>.</b> i	8.7	33.8
Boys 15-18: Students	24,6	13.1	8.1	21,2
Not Students	0.0	36,3	6.9	43,2
Girls 10-14: Students	25.0	8.8	12.8	21,2
Not Students	0.0	25.7	17.9	43.6
Girls 15-18: Students	24.6	9.3	15.7	25.0
Not Students	0.0	27.7	22.9	50,6
			Average	21.6
			-	42.8

Source: 1985-86 Peru Living Standards Survey. These figures are calculated from the same sample used in the estimations presented in Section VI.



be interpreted as a demand function. We will use these demand functions to solve for the <u>unconditional</u> indirect utility and expenditure functions. The unconditional functions are used to assess the welfare impact of policy changes in terms of compensating variations.



#### IV. EMPIRICAL SPECIFICATION

Solving the utility maximization problem yields a system of demand functions, whose forms are probabilities that the alternatives are chosen. The probability that any alternative is chosen equals the probability that this choice yields the highest utility among all the alternatives. The functional form of the demand functions depend on that of the conditional utility function and on the distribution of the stochastic variables.

## The Conditional Utility Function

Gertler, Locay and Sanderson (1987) show that income can influence the choice only if the conditional utility function allows for a non-constant marginal rate of substitution of schooling for consumption. A parsimonious form of the conditional utility function that does not impose a constant marginal rate of substitution is the semi-quadratic, which is linear in human capital and quadratic in consumption. Specifically, let the conditional utility function for the two schooling options be:

$$U_{i} = \alpha_{0}S_{i} + \alpha_{1}C_{i} + \alpha_{2}C_{i}^{2} + \varepsilon_{i} \qquad i = 1,f \qquad (5)$$

where each  $\epsilon_i$  is a zero mean random taste disturbance with finite variance and is uncorrelated across individuals.

Consumption net of schooling expenditures can be derived from (3):

$$C_i = Y - P_i^* = Y - P_i - wH_i$$
  $i = 1,f$  (6)



where w is the opportunity cost of the child's time, H<sub>i</sub> is hours of child's work lost due to school attendance, which varies over 'he local and faraway school options, and P<sub>i</sub> is the direct price (money cost) of sending a child to school i. Substituting (6) into (5) yields

 $U_{i} = \alpha_{0}S_{i} + \alpha_{1}(Y - P_{i} - wH_{i}) + \alpha_{2}(Y - P_{i} - wH_{i})^{2} + \epsilon_{i} \qquad i = 1, f \qquad (7)$ as the utility derived from sending one's child to either a local (i=1) or
faraway (i=f) school. The utility from keeping the child at home is:

$$U_0 = \alpha_1 Y + \alpha_2 Y^2 + \epsilon_0. \tag{8}$$

The identification of the parameters in (7) and (8) requires that the values of human capital and consumption differ across the alternatives. The alternative chosen is the one that yields the highest utility. Attributes that are constant across alternatives are differenced out of the decision rule.  $\frac{10}{}$  Thus it is variation in prices across alternatives that identifies  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$ . If prices did not vary across alternatives, then consumption would be constant across alternatives and difference out of the decision rule.



For example, if there were only two alternatives, the child would go to school if  $U_1-U_0>0$ . Any identical terms in  $U_1$  and  $U_0$  would be differenced out of the decision rule and thus not influence the choice.

A simple transformation of the conditional utility function illuminates the role of prices in the model. Since the decision rule involves comparing utility levels across alternatives, the conditional utility functions can be normalized relative to one of the alternatives without loss of generality. We normalize the utility from no-schooling alternative to zero by subtracting (8) from (7) for both the local and far-away options. In this case (7) becomes:

$$U_{i} - U_{0} = \alpha_{0}S_{i} - \alpha_{1}(P_{i} + wH_{i}) - \alpha_{2}[2(P_{i} + wH_{i})Y - (P_{i} + wH_{i})^{2}] + \epsilon_{i} - \epsilon_{0}$$
(9)

Notice that income has differenced out of the consumption term but not out of the consumption squared term. The linear consumption term represents just price, whereas the consumption squared term includes both a price-income interaction term and a squared price term. Thus, our specification includes a price term and a price-income interaction.

If we had assumed a linear utility runction, the squared terms on the right-hand sides of (7) and (8) would not be present. The contribution of income to utility would then reduce to  $\alpha_1 Y$ , which is constant across alternatives and implies a constant marginal rate of substitution. Income would then difference out of the decision rule and consequently not influence the alternative chosen. In our non-constant marginal rate of substitution specification, the quadratic consumption term implicitly includes a price-income interaction which is not constant across alternatives and thus cannot



be differenced out of the model. This price-income interaction allows price effects to vary by income.  $\frac{11}{}$ 

## Quality

Not all schools are the same, and better schools will provide "more" human capital per school year and thus will be more attractive to parents. 12/ Also, some students will receive "more" human capital from the same school than others. For example, students who can get help from educated parents may become better educated than classmates with uneducated parents. One cannot observe "quality" directly but one can observe various school and demographic characteristics which are thought to contribute to school quality and estimate a household human capital production function. Similarly, the marginal utility of increments to human capital may also vary by demographic



Some studies try to include income in the decision rule by allowing a to vary by alternative and setting a<sub>2</sub> = 0. In this case the decision rule becomes

 $U_{i} - U_{o} = \alpha_{o} S_{i} + (\alpha_{1i} - \alpha_{1o}) y + \alpha_{1i} (-P_{i} - wH_{i}).$ 

For this specification to be identified, the coefficient on consumption must be different for each alternative. In other words, the marginal utility of consumption must be different for the two alternatives even when evaluated at the same level of consumption and quality. This implies that two alternatives that provide the same quality of education for the same price must yield different levels of utility. Thus preferences are not well ordered and transitive, and therefore stable utility functions do not exist. See Gertler, Locay and Sanderson (1987) for details.

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{12}{2}$  See Behrman and Birdsall (1983, 1985) for a discussion of schooling quality.

characteristics. Pollak and Wachter (1975) argue that the separate effects of demographic variables in the production of human capital and in the marginal utility function cannot be identified. We therefore specify a reduced form model of the utility from human capital.

Formally, let utility from human capital be given by

$$\omega_0 S_i = \gamma_i X_i + \eta_i, \qquad (10)$$

where X<sub>i</sub> is a vector of school quality and demographic characteristics. 13/ To make the specification as general as possible, we let the coefficients in (10) be different for the home and away school alternatives. Allowing for different intercepts permits the baseline quality to vary by alternative, and having different slope coefficients allows the school's productivity to vary with individual characteristics such as age and current school year. The random disturbance term captures unmeasured portions of the quality function. These disturbances may be correlated across alternatives.

Substituting (10) into the conditional utility function (7) yields:

$$U_i = V_i + \epsilon_i + \eta_i \qquad i = 1, f \qquad (11)$$

where



Blements in the vector X; which are household or individual specific will not vary across schools and thus do not take the i subscript. Those which are school specific will vary by schools, hence the need for the i subscript on X;.

$$V_{i} = \gamma_{i}X_{i} + \alpha_{1}(Y - P_{i} - wH_{i}) + \alpha_{2}(Y - P_{i} - wH_{i})^{2}$$

for the schooling option, and

$$U_0 = V_0 + \varepsilon_0 \tag{12}$$

where

$$V_0 = \alpha_1 Y + \alpha_2 Y^2$$

for the no-schooling option.

## The Demand Functions and Welfare

Many discrete choice demand studies assume that the demand functions take on a multinominal logit (MNL) form. The MNL suffers from the Independence of Irrelevant Alternatives assumption which is equivalent to assuming that stochastic portions of the conditional utility functions are uncorrelated across alternatives, and imposes the restriction that the cross-price elasticities are the same across all alternatives. A computationally feasible generalization of the MNL is the Nested Multinominal Logit (NMNL) introduced in McFadden (1981). The NMNL allows for correlation across subgroups of alternatives and, therefore, non-constant cross-price elasticities. The NMNL also provides a specification test for groupings, and the NMNL is a generalization of the MNL as the MNL is "nested" within it.

The NMML specification for our problem is as follows. We assume that the joint distribution of the error terms follow a Type B extreme value



distribution. The n's imply that the error terms of the schooling alternatives may be correlated with each other, but not with the no school alternative. Therefore, the no school demand function (i.e. the probability of not going to school) is:

$$\pi_0 = \frac{\exp(V_0)}{\exp(V_0) + \left[\exp(V_1/\sigma) + \exp(V_f/\sigma)\right]^{\sigma}}$$
(13)

and the demand schooling alternative i is:

$$\pi_{i} = \left(1 - \pi_{0}\right) \frac{\exp(V_{i}/\sigma)}{\left[\exp(V_{1}/\sigma) + \exp(V_{f}/\sigma)\right]^{\sigma}} \qquad i = 1, f$$
(14)

where  $\sigma$  is one minus the correlation the error terms in the conditional utility functions of the local and faraway schooling options introduced by the  $\eta_j$ 's, and the V's are given by (10) and (11).

McFadden shows that  $\sigma$  must be between zero and one for the model to be consistent with utility maximization. When  $\sigma$  is less than one, the error terms in the local and faraway schooling alternatives' conditional utility functions are correlated. This implies that individuals view local and faraway schooling as closer substitutes with each other than with the noschooling alternative. When  $\sigma$  = 1, all of the alternatives are viewed as equally close substitutes and the NMNL reduces to an MNL.

The estimated demand functions in (12) and (13) can be used to assess the impact of user fees on demand and revenues. They also form the basis of our measurement of the willingness to pay for closer schools or schools of higher quality. Willingness-to-pay is calculated as a compensating variation



- the amount of income that an individual must be compensated to make the family just as well off after a price or quality change as before the change. The calculation involves using the demand functions to solve for the unconditional indirect utility and expenditure functions used in estimating compensating variation (c.f. Small and Rosen, 1981). In the case of a nested multinominal logit, the compensating variation for an increase in travel time is:

$$CV = (1/\lambda) \left\{ \ln \left[ \exp(V_0) + \left[ \exp(V_1/\sigma) + \exp(V_f/\sigma) \right]^{\sigma} \right] - \ln \left[ \exp(V_0') + \left[ \exp(V_1'/\sigma) + \exp(V_f'/\sigma) \right]^{\sigma} \right] \right\}$$
(15)

where  $V_j$  and  $V_j$ ' are evaluated at the original and new travel times respectively, and where  $\lambda$  is the marginal utility of income.



### V. DATA

The data employed are from the 1985-86 Peru Living Standards Survey (PLSS), a multi-purpose household survey jointly undertaken by Peru's Instituto Nacional de Estadistica (INE) and the World Bank. This survey is described in detail in Grootaert and Arriagada (1986). The survey contains detailed information on the education of all household members, including expinditures on education and information on the school attended for all household members presently attending school. There is also community level data concerning the local secondary school, including distance and travel time if it is located outside the community. This community level data is only available for rural areas sampled in the survey. Other useful data at the community level are daily agricultural wage rates for men, women and children, which can be used to estimate the opportunity cost of time associated with school attendance.

The sample consists of rural children between the ages of 10 and 18 who live in rural areas in Peru. Any child who had already finished secondary school or had not completed primary school was deleted. 14/ The survey also contains data on children who live away from home, including whether or not they are enrolled in school. We include them in our sample and apply the



Eliminating households without children eligible to enroll in secondary school should not cause any serious selectivity problems since we are only interested in willingness to pay among families whose children are qualified to enroll. Yet it is possible that the parents of children who do not complete primary school may decide to have them finish and enroll in secondary school if a new secondary school opens nearby, thus there may be a small tendency to underestimate the willingness of a community to pay for closer secondary schools.

household and community data of their parent's household.  $\frac{15}{}$  Since mother's and father's education is important, we also deleted a few children for which that information was not available. A child is defined as enrolled if he is presently attending school or, if there is a school vacation, he attended school when it was last in session.

The definitions of variables used in the estimation are presented in Table 4. The most important variables in the specification are consumption income and its square, which are constructed as follows. Conceptually, family income, Y, is non-labor income plus the sum of the value of all family members' time spent working. We observe the value of household consumption under the current schooling choice (Glewwe, 1987). If the child is not in school the observed value of consumption is assumed to be Y. If a child is in school, then Y equals observed household consumption plus the direct and indirect costs of his or her schooling, where the latter is the value of the additional time the child would work if not in school. 16/ For the local



While there is no problem with children leaving home to attend school, if parents move their entire household to be nearer to a school another selectivity problem arises (cf. Rosenzweig and Wolpin, 1984). To check this we examined reasons for migration for the most recent move in the last 15 years. About 77% had not moved, 12% moved for work reasons, 9% moved for "family reasons," 1% moved for marriage and 1% "other." It appears doubtful that such selectivity is a problem.

<sup>16/</sup> We do not include lost leisure time in the indirect cost of schooling since it cannot be determined for children who leave home to attend school.

TABLE 4: Definitions of Variables

- Value of per capita consumption associated with each option CONSUMPTION CONSUMPTION SQUARED - Value of per capita consumption squared. YEAR IN SCHOOL - Number of school years completed by the child - Dummy variable which takes the value of 1 if child is FEMALE CHILD female and O if child is male. - Number of years of completed schooling of child's father FATHER YEARS EDUC. - Number of years of completed schooling of child's mother MOTHER YEARS EDUC. MOTHER YEARSX - Interaction variable between MOTHER YEARS EDUC and FATHERS FATHER YEARS YEARS EDUC. CHILDREN AGED 13-17 - Number of household members between ages 13 and 17 - Time in minutes required to travel to the nearest secondary TRAVEL TIME school - Lack of teachers cited as problem for local primary LACK OF TEACHERS sc'.ools

school option, the additional time is the difference in the mean hours worked in both work outside the house and housework between students and non-students, as shown in Table 3. For the faraway school option it is assumed that all the child's work as reported in Table 3 is lost. This time is valued at the local child agricultural wage rate per day, assuming that it measures a six hour day.

Using the data from Table 3 to calculate the reduction in time spent working brought about by school attendance could lead to a selectivity bias.

Average hours worked by non-students may not be an accurate indicator of the



hours students would work if they were not in school. We investigated this issue by estimating selectivity correlated labor supply functions for the two alternatives using methods presented in Lee (1983). We then use the estimated labor supply functions to predict hours of work conditional on the schooling choice. These predictions were then used to calculate work time lost to the household from a child's school attendance. When this method is used the results are very similar to those obtained when the value of lost work was calculated from the data reported in Table 3. The selectivity corrected model and the estimates are reported in Appendix II.

To find the direct cost of schooling, we used the PLSS data to calculate mean household expenditures on school fees, transportation costs, meals and lodging (for those living away from home), and the cost of textbooks. In order to the ended cost of attending a more distant local school, mean transportation costs for the local school option were calculated from the PLSS data for different travel time categories. In fact, direct fees are negligible, even for children who go away to school. 17/

We sum the direct and indirect costs of sending children to school to obtain the total "price" of schooling for each alternative. The prices and income are used to calculate household consumption for each alternative. Household consumption is then divided by the number of family members to convert total consumption into per capital terms. Means for income, schooling prices and household size are given in Table 5.



<sup>17/</sup> The major costs of sending a child away to school are meals and lodging, which together account for 70% of the total direct cost of the faraway school option.

Now turn to variables that enter the utility of human capital equation. Recall that this list includes variables that affect both the marginal utility and the return from schooling. The first is the number of years of schooling completed by the child. It may be that initial years of secondary school contribute less to future earning power than later years. If so, families will place a higher value on later years of school and consequently be more likely to send a child to secondary school who has already completed the earlier years. Since parents may discriminate against daughters there is a dummy variable for female children. A negative parameter on this variable would indicate that either the parents value education less for girls or that the expected future returns from female children are smaller than those for males.

The education of parexes can raise the utility they receive from sending their child to secondary school in three ways. First, parents' education may be positively correlated with children's ability, which in turn results in more education received per year of school attended and thus higher utility per year of children's schooling. Second, better educated parents may place a higher value on their childrens' education. Third, educated parents can provide an environment conducive to better learning, such as directly helping children with schoolwork, which will also raise the human capital received per year by the child. Since having two well-educated parents may not necessarily double these effects, an interaction term for mother's and father's years of schooling is added.



Table 5: Descriptive Statistics

	Variable		Mean	Standard Deviation
Variables Used to	Household Incom	e (if child not enrolie	d) 20,483	19,286
Construct Consumption	Price of School	ing, Local School	334	42
Terms (C and $C^2$ )	Price of School	ing, Faraway School	779	50
	Household Size		7.20	2,57
/ariables Used in Year in School		5.98	1,29	
Human Capital Term (aS)	Female Child		0.43	-
	Father Years Edi	ucation	3,31	2.72
	Mother Years Edi	ucation	1,52	2.14
	Children Aged 13	3-17	1.47	0.93
	Travei Time (Hou	urs)	1.57	2.35
	Lack of Teachers	3	0.09	-
Children who do not	attend school:	38≴		
Children who go to local school:		43\$		
Children who go to	faraway school:	19\$		
Sample Size		718		

Note: Household income and schooling prices are in terms of June 1985 Peruvian Intis per year.

One variable used pertains to household composition. Larger families may derive less utility from sending an additional child to school because having one more child in school may be less important if some are already enrolled. Yet the price for sending each child is the same. A priori one would expect that additional children, between ages 13 and 17 (the years normally associated with secondary school) would reduce the utility derived from sending any one of them to secondary school.



The first is a dummy variable which takes the value of one if there is a general lack of qualified teachers as indicated by the fact that community members cited this as a fault of local primary schools. Though it does not directly apply to secondary schools it is likely to be highly correlated with the same problem in local secondary schools. The second school quality variable is travel time to the local school. In selectivity corrected models of hours in school and labor supply, we found that travel time to the local school has a strong negative effect on hours in school.  $\frac{19}{}$  The fact that travel time cuts into bours in school suggests that it can have a negative effect on school quality and should be incorporated in the  $\alpha_0$ S term as well as into the cost of schooling.



<sup>18/</sup> The local secondary school is defined as the nearest school to the household. All other schools in Peru are considered to be faraway schools. Thus the set of faraway schools is almost identical for each household in the sample.

<sup>19/</sup> This finding is explained in Appendix I.

## VI. RESULTS

The NMNL model of school enrollment was estimated by full information maximum likelihood. The estimates are presented in Table 6.20/ The coefficients on consumption and consumption squared are both significantly different from zero, implying that the marginal utility gain from consumption diminishes relative to the gain from education as incomes rise. Prices enter through the consumption variables, and as discussed earlier, it is the variation in price that is significant here. The estimate of sigma is greater than zero and less than one, which implies that the nested multinominal logit model is the correct specification. It also implies that local and faraway schooling are closer substitutes with each other than they are with the noschooling option.

Turning to the other parameter estimates, we find a significantly negative effect by sex for both the local and faraway schooling options - female children are less likely to attend local secondary schools than otherwise identical males. This could be due to either lowe, expected future returns to schooling among females relative to males, which would cause parents to educate sons rather than daughters, or to discrimination against women regardless of their earnings potential. For both options we also find that parents' level of education is positively correlated with enrollment, though not always significantly so. The interaction term between mother's and father's education, though, is negligible.



<sup>20/</sup> Although a simpler two-step estimate exists (McFadden, 1981), Hensher (1986) reports that full information maximum likelihood achieves substantial gains in efficiency over the more popular two-step procedure.

TABLE 6: Wested Hultinominal Logit of Demand for Schooling

Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Consumption (a,)*	0.53	1.88
Consumption Squared (a,)	-0.31	-2.35
Sigma (σ)	0.76	3.30
Local School Alternative:		
Constant	-4.00	-2.63
Year in School	0.61	2.32
Female Child	-0.84	-2.53
Father Years Education	0.20	1.42
Mothers Years Education	0.18	1.99
Mother Years x Fathers Years	0.00	0.06
Children Aged 13-17	-0.23	-1.60
Travel Time	-0.35	-5.08
Lack of Teachers	-0.63	-1.79
Far Away School Alternative:		
Constant	-5.92	-3.76
Year in School	1.04	3.67
Female Child	-0.77	-2.15
Father Years Education	0.10	0.63
Mother Years Education	0.16	1.68
Mother Years x Fathers Years	-0.00	-0.01
Children Aged 13-17	-0.51	-3.29
- Log likelihood = 621.55 Sample Size = 718		

<sup>\*</sup> Variable divided by 100 for estimation
\*\* Variable divided by 10,000 for estimation



The other estimated parameters differ across the two schooling options. Taking first the local school option. Years in school has a positive effect. This implies that later years of local secondary schooling are valued more by parents than initial years, presumably because the later years contribute more to future earnings. The presence of other children of secondary school age (13-17 years) has a small negative effect on the decision to enroll children in the local school, yet it will be seen below that this is not the case for the faraway schooling option. Indicators of poor local school quality have strongly negative effects on enrollment. As explained in the appendix, travel time reduces hours in school, which ought to reduce the quality of education received. This lowered quality dissuades parents from sending children to local schools. Also, lack of teachers in the local system has a negative effect on the local schooling choice; the interpretation here is that parents are less likely to send their child to local schools if they perceive that staff shortages result in lower quality education.

The faraway school alternative displays different parameter estimates for the years in school and other children variables. The impact of years in school is again positive but stronger for faraway schools. This implies that later years of secondary education in a faraway school are seen as much more valuable than the initial years and that an additional year of schooling from a faraway school has a higher return than from a local school. In addition, the presence of other children of secondary school age (13-17) has a strong negative effect on sending children away from home for schooling. It may be that among households with several children of secondary school age the increment to utility of sending one child to a faraway school is larger than subsequent increments from sending additional children.



## VII. PRICE ELASTICITIES

The effect of user fees on school attendance and the relative impact across different income groups is often measured by price elasticities. Since prices enter the demand functions in a non-linear fashion through the consumption and consumption squared terms, price elasticities vary over price and income. Thus are price elasticities of demand for schooling are presented in Table 7 for different income groups and different total price ranges for both the local and faraway school options. The elasticities are computed via sample enumeration.

Looking across the rows for both the local and faraway school alternatives one see: a small decline in price clasticities as incomes rise, until one reaches the wealthiest 25%, where price elasticities are noticeably lower. This implies that a giver ase in user fees will cause about the same proportionate reduction in school attendance among the poorest 75% of the population but a much smaller proportionate reduction for the wealthiest 25%. Thus increases in user fees will reduce enrollments less among the richest group when compared to the rest of the rural population in Peru. Looking down columns, we find that as prices rise the demand for education becomes much more sensitive to changes in price. Over the relevant price ranges one sees that the demand for education is relatively price inelastic, so that there may be some scope for introducing user fees. However, as the direct price of schooling rises, the demand for education becomes more servitive to price increases so that there is a limit to the inelastic portion of the demand curve for education.



TABLE 7: Arc Price Elasticities for Secondary Education

rice Range	Poorest 25%	Next 25%	Next 25%	Wealthiest 25%	All Rura Areas
Local School Alte	ernative				
0-300 Intis	-0.14	-0.13	-0.12	-0.05	-0.11
300-600 Intis	-0.23	-0.22	-0.21	-0.09	-0.19
600-900 Intis	-0.35	-0.33	-0.32	-0.13	-0.28
900-1200 Intis	-0.47	-0.45	-0.43	-0.18	-0.38
Paraway School Al	ternative				
0-300 Intis	-0.19	-0.18	-0.17	-0.07	-0.15
300-600 Intis	-0.32	-0.31	-0.29	-0.10	-0.25
600-900 Intis	-0.47	-0.44	-0.42	-0.14	-0.36
900-1200 Intis	-0.61	-0.59	-0.54	-0.18	-0.47
Average Household Income	7,236	13,154	21,002	48,679	20,483



#### VIII. WELFARE NEUTRAL PRICES

Price elasticities cannot reveal whether instituting user fees to build more schools is desirable, since they do not account for the benefits of the uses to which the funds raised are put. This can only be done by calculating willingness to pay for improvements in schooling services. As noted earlier, secondary schooling in Peru is implicitly rationed by a skewed distribution of schools in rural areas. In this section we evaluate the welfare effects of a proposal to alleviate this rationing by building new secondary schools in villages where they do not exist and charging user fees to cover the costs. To be completely self-financing, the total fees should cover operating costs, so that the government can operate the new schools without increasing its educational budget. 21/

Whether families will benefit from this proposal depends on whether the reduction in welfare from having to pay the fees is less than the gain in welfare from having schools closer. The welfare neutral fee is the maximum amount families are willing to pay in order to reduce the distance their children must travel (i.e. the compensating variation). If the welfare neutral fee is greater than marginal cost, then charging fees at marginal cost to finance the new school would be welfare improving and enrollments would



<sup>21/</sup> We do not include capital costs since these are one time expenditures.

The major capital cost is the building. Since the life of a building is long, construction costs averaged over the years are small relative to operating costs.

probably increase. On the other hand, if the welfare neutral fee is less than marginal cost, such a policy would reduce welfare, and school enrollment as well.

Welfare neutral prices are calculated using the compensating variation formula in equation (15). This has been done separately for each income quartile under two different scenarios. The scenarios calculate the willingness to pay to reduce travel time to the local school to zero (Intis per year) when the local school is one and two hours away respectively. Table 8 presents the welfare neutral prices for each income quartile in absolute terms (columns A) and as a percentage of income (columns B).

The data in Table 8 reveal that reducing travel time offers minor benefits to households if the nearest exi3ting school is one hour away. However, if the school is two hours away willingness to pay jumps dramatically. The intuition behind this is that raising the travel time to two hours makes families much more likely to either remove their child from school or send the child away to school. The former is viewed as undesirable and the latter is expensive (cf. Table 5). Table 8 shows that families in the wealthiest income quartile are willing to pay about 30% to 50% more in absolute terms to reduce travel time than are households from the other income groups. In relative terms, though, the lower income groups are willing to pay a much greater share of their budget.

To gauge the welfare implications of the proposal to use school fees to finance reductions in travel time we need to compare the willingness-to-pay estimates to operating costs. The vast majority of a school's budget goes towards teachers' salaries. Using the PLSS, we found that in rural Peru the average annual



teacher salary is about 12,000 Intis. Therefore, assuming an average class size of 30 the cost of teachers per student is about 400 Intis per year. From Table 8, it is clear, no households, rich or poor, are willing to pay enough to cover teachers salaries to reduce travel time by one hour. It is also clear, though, that households from all income groups are willing to pay more than enough to cover operating costs to reduce travel time by 2 hours. Thus, for communities in which

TABLE 8: Willingness to Pay to Reduce Travel Time to Secondary School: June 1985 Intis per year and Percent of Income

				IN	COME QU	ARTILE				
Travel Time to Nearest	Poore	s† 25\$	Next	25\$	Next	25\$	Weal	thiest 25%	1	Rural Bas
School	A	B	A	B	٨	В	٨	В	٨	В
1 Hour	135	1.8\$	143	1,15	152	0.7\$	20?	0.4%	160	0.8\$
2 Hours	1096	15.1\$	1120	8.5\$	1146	5.5%	1301	2.7\$	1172	5.7\$

A - Willingness to Pay In June 1985 Intis per year.

children have to travel two or more hours to secondary schools, the policy of using school fees to finance opening new schools in these communities will be welfare improving. We emphasize that this result holds for all income groups including the lowest income quartile.



B - Willingness to Pay as a percentage of household income.

## IX. CONCLUSION

Policy makers need reliable information on the likely effects of user fees on school enrollment in order to see whether raising those fees would be an effective method to improve the delivery of educational services. This paper has discussed the issues involved and then turned to household data from rural Peru to estimate the likely effect of implementing school fees on school attendance. The estimates show that demand for schooling at the secondary level is quite inelastic at present fee levels. However, as fees are raised demand becomes more elastic, although the elasticity is still less than unity. Moreover, we find that the price elasticity of demand is higher for lower income groups.

Price elasticities, though, are not sufficient information to evaluate whether raising school fees to finance school improvements is in fact a desirable policy. One needs to examine the benefits as well as the costs. Household's willingness to pay for the improvement is a measure of the benefits. By comparing willingness to pay to the cost of an improvement, we can determine if an improvement in schools can be consumer financed and still be welfare increasing.

In rural Peru, schooling is rationed by a skewed distribution of schools. We used the principle of compensating variation to calculate household's willingness to pay to reduce travel time to secondary schools. We find that households are willing to pay more than the costs of operating a new school to reduce travel time from two hours to zero. These results apply to all households, even those from the lowest quartile of the income distribution. This suggests that opening new schools and charging fees to



cover costs in areas where present travel times are equal to or greater than two hours may be welfare increasing. To see whether our analysis is correct the Peruvian government could test this on an experimental basis in a few selected rural areas.

This paper represents a first attempt to rigorously evaluate the feasibility of charging user fees for publicly provided education. The technique involved is relatively flexible. One possible criticism of this study is that information on the direct prices of schooling were lacking and had to be crudely estimated. Future data collection efforts should concentrate on gathering such data as well as data on the quality of schools. Such data will allow for a more refined analysis of the consequences of raising user fees, including the relative effects on household welfare and school attendance of simultaneously raising fees and raising school quality.



#### REFERENCES

- Behrman, Jere, and Nancy Birdsall. (1983). "The Quality of Schooling."

  American Economic Review, vol. 73, no. 5. pp. 928-946.
- Behrman, Jere, and Nancy Birdsall. (1985). "The Quality of Schooling: Reply," American Economic Review, vol. 75, no.5. pp. 1202-1205.
- Birdsall, Nancy. (1983). "Strategies for Analyzing Effects of User Charges in the Social Sectors". Discussion Paper No. 1983-9. Country Policy Department, World Bank, Washington, D.C. (Reissued as PHN Technical Note 87-4 and now available from Population and Human Resources Department).
- Cornea, Giovanni, Richard Jolly and Frances Stewart. (1987) Adjustment with a Human Face. Oxford University Press, Oxford, U.K.
- Eicher, J.C. (1984). "Educational Costing and Financing in Developing Countries: Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa". World Bank Staff Working Paper No. 655, Washington, D.C.
- Gertler, Paul, and Jacques van der Gaag. (1988). "Measuring the Willingness to Pay for Social Services in Developing Countries". LSMS Working Paper No. 45. The World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- Gertler, Paul, Luis Locay and Warren Sanderson. (1987). "Are User Fees Regressive? The Welfare Implications of Health Care Financing Proposals in Peru". Journal of Econometrics, vol. 36, pp. 67-80.
- Glewwe, Paul. (1987). "The Distribution of Welfare in Peru in 1985-86". LSMS Working Paper No. 42, The World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- Grootaert, Christian, and Ala-Maria Arriagada. (1986). "The Peruvian Living Standards Survey: An Annotated Questionnaire". Education and Employment, Population and Human Resources Department, The World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- Heckman, James. (1979). "Sample Selection Bias as a Specification Error". Econometrica, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 153-61.
- Hensher, D. (1986) "Sequential and Full Information Maximum Likelihood Estimation in Nested Multinominal logit Models" The Review of Economics and Statistics, 56, 652-667.
- Jimenez, Emmanuel. (1987). Pricing Policy in the Social Sectors. Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore.
- Katz, Michael. (1987). "Pricing Publicly Supplied Goods and Services". in D. Newbery and N. Stern, eds., <u>The Theory of Taxation for Developing</u> Countries, Oxford University Press.



- Klees, Steven J. (1984). "The Need for a Political Economy of Educational Finance: A Response to Thobani". Comparative Education Review, 28:3, 424-440.
- Lee, Lung-Fei. (1983). "Generalized Econometric Models with Selectivity." Econometrica, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 507-512.
- McFadden, Daniel. (1981). "Econometric Models of Probabilistic Choice". In C. Manski and D. McFadden, eds., Structural Analysis of Discrete Data with Econometric Applications. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.
- von Pischke, J.D., Dale W. Adams and Gordon Donald. (1983). Rural Financial Markets in Developing Countries. Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore.
- Pollak, R., and M. Wachter. (1975). "The Relevance of the Household Production Function and its Implications for the Allocation of Time". Journal of Political Economy, vol. 83, pp. 255-299.
- Rosenzweig, Mark, and Kenneth Wolpin. 1984. "Migration Selectivity and the Effects of Public Programs." Mimeo. University of Minnesota, Minneapolis.
- Small, Kenneth, A., and Harvey S. Rosen. (1981). "Applied Welfare Economics with Discrete Classic Models". <u>Econometrica</u>, Vol. 49, No. 1, pp. 105-130.
- Stelcner, Morton, Ana-Maria Arriagada, and Peter Moock (1987). "Wage Determinants and School Attainment among Men in Peru". LSMS Working Paper No. 38, The World Bank, Washington D.C.
- Thobani, Mateen. (1983). "Charging User Fees for Social Services: The Case of Education in Malawi". World Bank Staff Working Paper No. 572, Washington, D.C.
- Weekes-Vagliani, Winifred. (1985). "Actors and Institutions in the Food Chair: The Cage of Peru". Development Centre Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. Paris.
- World Bank. (1985). "Peru Jountry Economic Memorandum". Latin America and the Caribbean Regional Office. The World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- World Bank. (1986). Financing Education in Developing Countries: An Exploration of Policy Options. The World Bank, Washington, D.C.



## APPENDIX I

## Effect of Local School Travel Time on Hours in School

In Section IV of the text it was argued that travel time to the local school should be treated as a school quality variable as well as a price variable. This appendix explains why this assumption has been made.

Holding other variables constant, when households that enroll their children in a local school face longer travel times to that school, the increased time required to travel to that school must impinge on other activities. One might expect that children would work fewer hours, so that the added travel time would reduce the consumption opportunities faced by the household. However, it may also be the case that longer travel time results in fewer hours spent in school among those student who are attending. This reduced classroom time would presumably result in less learning on the part of students and thus could be interpreted as a school quality effect. The data must be checked to see whether travel time has a negative effect on hours in school.

To examine this we regressed hours in school on a set of explanatory variables which include distance to the nearest secondary school. These estimates, which control for sample selectivity bias (cf Heckman, 1979) are given in Table A.l. The coefficient on travel time is significantly negative. Thus we use distance to school as a school quality variable in the model as well as part of the price of schooling.



TABLE A.1: Regression Estimates of Hours in School

Dependent Variable: Independent	nours in school	
Variables	Coefficient	t-statistic
Intercept	38.909	0.93
Age	-3.110	-0.55
Age <sup>2</sup>	0.079	0.41
Sierra Dummy Variable	3.573	2.10
Selva Dummy Variable	-1.356	-0.57
Female Dummy Variable	-1.378	-1.10
Travel Time (minutes)	-0.029	-4.42
Child Wage Rate	-1.589	-0.68
Lambda (coefficient on inverse of Mill'		0.45
R <sup>2</sup>	0.	.08
Number of Observations		45



## APPENDIX II

## Estimates of the Demand for Schooling Using Predicted Work Hours

The cost of schooling as shown in Equation (7) of the text includes the hours of children's work lost due to school attendance. The estimates given in the text use the data from Table 3 to calculate the differences in hours worked between children in school and children not in school. This procedure could be criticized because it does not control for sample selectivity bias - i.e. the decision to go to school. The essential problem is that if children now in school were to leave school, the hours they would work may not be the same as those for children who are not in school. This appendix presents estimates of the demand for schooling where selectivity is taken into account. It turns out that the estimates are very similar to those given in the text.

Table A.2 presents estimates of hours worked both for students and non-students where selectivity bias is using a method developed in Lee (1983). The method is a generalization of the two-step procedure popularized in Heckman (1979). The first stage estimates a reduced form nested multinominal logit model of schooling choice. The estimates from the first stage are then used to construct selectivity correction terms to include in least squares regressions of hours worked conditional on being in school and out of school. There is some evidence that selectivity exists, but it is very imprecisely estimated. These estimates were used to predict hours worked under the two different regimes (student and non-student), which were then used to calculate the cost of schooling for estimation of the demand for schooling. The new estimates of the demand for schooling are given in Table



A.3. The t-statistics have not been corrected to account for the the fact that hours are calculated from the estimations shown in Table A.2. It is clear, though, that there is little difference in the point estimates of the demand for schooling when compared to those given in Table 6 of the text. We also calculated arc price elasticities and willingness to pay measures which are presented in Tables A.4 and A.5 respectively. These estimates are also very similar to their counterparts in Tables 7 and 8 of the text. We thus conclude that sample selectivity is not a problem in the estimates we have presented.



TABLE A.2: Estimates of Hours Worked by Students and Non-Students

dependent Variables	Dependent Variables						
	Hours Worked I	oy Non-Students	Hours Worke	d by Student			
Constant	-88.76	(-0,68)	29.12	(0.40)			
Sex	5.58	(1.67)	0.16	(0.04)			
Age	21.42	(1,30)	2,71	(0,28)			
Age Squared	-0.63	(-1,24)	-0.13	(-0,39)			
Year in School	-5.62	(-1,20)	2,03	(1,60)			
Father's Years of Schooling	0,65	(0.95)	0,39	(0.79)			
Mother's Years of Schooling	-2.62	(-2,10,	-1.93	(-3,30)			
Sierra	7.15	(1,42)	4.70	(-1,29)			
Selva	-1.60	(-0,27)	-2,92	(-0.52)			
Log of Child Wage Rate	8.88	(1.82)	12,34	(3,32)			
Adult Female Wage Rate	-1 .24	(-0,23)	-12.83	(-2.59)			
Adult Male Wage Rate	-9.64	(-1.64)	-3,24	(-0.64)			
Log of HH Enterprise Assets	-1.37	(-2,46)	0.36	(0.94)			
Log of HH Non-Labour Income	-14.86	(-1,96)	2,01	(1.65)			
Log Hectares Owned by HH	0.52	(0,35)	1,39	(1.32)			
Log of Business Assets	1,22	(1,91)	-0.19	(-0.39)			
Males in HH Aged 20-60	-7.25	(-2,52)	1.57	(0,69)			
Females in HH Age 20-60	-10.29	(-3,09)	-4.87	(-2.15)			
Other Adults in Household	3.55	(1,65)	-1.88	(-1.39)			
Children in HH Aged 7-12	-3,61	(-2,68)	0.52	(0.46)			
Children in HH Aged 13-17	-2.74	(-1,12)	1.76	(1.05)			
Seasonal Dummy Variables: Fall	1.85	(0,45)	-6.76	(-2.04)			
Winter	-2.15	(-0.48)	11,22	(3,10)			
Spring	1.06	(0,26)	5.68	(1,69)			
Coefficient on inverse Mill's Ratio	12.23	(0,98)	7,20	(1,44)			
R <sup>2</sup>	0,	32	0.	,24			
Sample Size		212		306			



TABLE A.3: Nested Multinominal Logit of Demand for Schooling

Variable	Coefficient	t-statisti	
Consumption (a <sub>1</sub> )*	0.60	2.21	
Consumption Squared (a,)	-0.03	-2.26	
Sigma (σ)	0.75	3.26	
Local School Alternative:			
Constant	-4.18	-2.60	
Year in School	0.64	2.31	
Female Child	-0.86	-2.50	
Father Years Education	0.21	1.41	
Mothers Years Education	0.19	2.00	
Mother Years x Fathers Years	0.00	-0.07	
Children Aged 13-17	-0.23	-1.54	
Travel Time	-0.33	-4.66	
Lack of Teachers	-0.64	-1.82	
Far Away School Alternative:			
Constant	-6.10	-3.69	
Year in School	1.07	3.60	
Female Child	-0.79	-2.15	
Father Years Education	0.11	0.65	
Mother Years Education	0.17	1.69	
Mother Years x Fathers Years	0.00	0.00	
Children Aged 13-17	-0.51	-3.22	
- Log likelihood = 621.65			
Sample Size = 718			



<sup>\*</sup> Variable divided by 100 for estimation \*\* Variable divided by 10,000 for estimation

TABLE A.4: Arc Price Elasticities for Secondary Education

Price Range	Poorest 25%	Next 25%	Next 25%	Wealthiest 25%	All Rura Areas
Local School Atte	ntion				
0-300 Intis	-1.17	17	16	10	15
300-600 Intis	31	30	30	16	27
600-900 Intis	47	46	44	23	40
900-1200 Intis	64	-,62	59	-,31	53
Faraway School Al	ternative				
0-300 Intis	-,24	23	-,22	-,12	20
300-600 Intis	42	40	39	18	35
600-900 Intis	60	58	55	25	49
900-1200 Intis	79	<b></b> 7 '	72	-,32	63

TABLE A.5: Willingness to Pay to Reduce Travel Time to Secondary School

Time to Nearest	Income Quartile						All Rural			
School	Poor	est 25%	Nex	t 25%	Next	25%	Wealth	iest 25%	Per	'n
	A	В	٨	В	A	В	A	В		
1 hour	139	1.9%	146	1.15	155	0.7\$	207	0.45	164	0.8\$
2 hours	965	13.3\$	988	7.5%	1,011	4.85	1,151	2.3%	1,034	5.0\$

A - Willingness to Pay in June 1985 Intis per year.



B - Willingness to Pay as a percentage of household income.

# Distributors of World Bank Publications

ARGENTINA Carles Hinch, SRL Geleria Common Flunda 145, 4th Henr-Oit, 459/465 1330 Bunnes Abro

AUSTRALIA, PAFUA NEW GUINEA, FIE, SOLOMON BELANDS, VANUATU, AND WINTERN SAMOA DA. Bosha & Journals 11-43 Station Street Mitchen 30.32 Vicinita

AUSTRIA Gordd and Co. Groben 31 A-1011 Wign

BAMBAIN
Belevin Research and Cannellancy
Associates Ltd.
P.O. Bur. 22008
Manusa Town, 317

BANGLADESH Micro Industrias Development Annistenes Society (AEDAS) Homes Si, Reed 7A Dhatmandi R/Area Dhahn 1209

PELGRIM
Addications des Nations Union
Av. de Rei 202
1001 Personie

BRAZII. Publicassa Tucaicas Internacionai Lide. Bun Publica Gamido, 200 Ol 400 See Puulo, ST

CANADA Le Diffessor C.P. 85, 1501B rue Ampère Bracherville, Quebec 140 GM

CHINA
Cho.: Planacial & Bennanic Publishing
House
& Do To Bt Dong Jie

COLOMENIA Balace Lida. Apurtado Astro 31270 Bagata D.E.

COSTA RICA Librate Trejos Callo 13-13 Av. Famandes Guell Sen joss

COTE D'IVOIRE Contre d'Béttem et de Diffesion Africaises (CEDA) 04 B.P. 541 Abbéjus 04 Platens

CYPRUS
MIM/RS Information Services
P.O. Bax 2006
Nicesia

DENMARK SondondeLiteratur Resencerus AB6 11 DK-1970 Productioburg C

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC Editors Taller, C. per A. Restouracion e Indul la Calelica 309 Apurtado Pestal 2190 Senta Dumingo

EL SALVADOR Pundes Avenide Messel Burique Araujo 62830 Réficie SEA, ler. Pino Sen Salvador

NGYPT, ARAB REPUBLIC OF Al Alexan Al Galas Breat

The Middle Hast Cheerver 8 Chaverhi Street Calco PINLAND Aksterminen Kirjahouppe P.O. Bax 128 8F-0010; Helshakt 10

PRANCE Weste Bank Publications 66, avenue d'Alna 1814 hote

CREMANY, PEDREAL REPUBLIC OF UNO-Verlag Propositionist Alice 35 D-8500 Bonn 1

GREECE FIRMS 24. Speciamon Struct Flatia Plontires Adheno-11635

GUATECEALA Libratios Pindro Sente Cuntro Cultural Pindro Sente 11 callo 6-50 sente 1 Guatemalo City

HONG BONG, MACAO Ania 2000 Ltd. 6 PL, 146 Prince Beward Read, W. Kowitsen

HUNGARY Kelters P.O. Ber 139 1309 Budapart 62

INDIA Allied Publishers Private Lid 751 Mount Reed Medius - 600 002

> Branch officer 15 J.N. Harrolie Marg Ballard Retate Brankey - Servill

13/14 Anti Ali Reed New Dulbi - 110 002

17 Chitterenjan Avenue Calcutta - 700 072

Jayndove Hestel Building Sh Mats Reed Gendhinger Bengalore - 360 000

3-5-1179 Kechigada Cross Road Hydershad - 500 027

Prorthens Flats, 2nd Flace Near Theleare Beeg, Newscappure Alexadebed - 360 009

Patiale House 16-A Ashek Marg Lucknew - 226 001

BRELAND TDC Publishers 12 North Frederick Street Dublin 1

ISRABL
The Jerusalem Peat
The Jerusalem Peat Building
P.O. Bax St
Reseases, Jerusalem 91000

ITALY Licens Commissionerie Sensoni SPA Via Bunodatio Pertini, 120/10 Casello Pustala 552 50125 Pluranes

JAPAN Hastern Book Service 37-3, Hungo 3-Choma, Dunkyo-hu 113 Tukyo

ECENYA Adrica Book Service (B.A.) Liel P.O. Bus 45245 Natrobi

HORBA, REFUBLIC OF Pen Kerse Book Corporation P.O. Bax 101, Kwangwhaman NUWAIT Millelis P.O. Bux 5465

MALAYFIA University of Malaya Cooperative Beshelson, Limited P.O. Ber 1127, John Peniel Baru Koole Lumner

MEDICO INPOTEC Apartedo Pestal 23-860 14080 Tislpen, Mestas D.F.

MOROCCO Reciste d'Ebales Mari, ating Mareceine 12 rue Mesart, Bd. d'Arte Cambianes

NETTERLANDS InCo-Publication b.v. P.O. Box 14 7240 BA Lockson

NEW ZEALAND Hills Library and Information Service Pulvate ling New Market Austholia

MICHEIA University Press Limited Three Crowne Building Jeriche Private Mell Beg 1995 Buden

NORWAY Nervests Information Center Bertrand Nervesus vol 2 P.O. Ber 6125 Bitented N-0402 Outo 6

OMAN
MIMITS Information Service
P.O. Box 1613, Soob Airport
Muscul

PAKISTAN Mizz, Josk Aguscy 65, Shahrsh-o Quaid-o-Azum P.O. Bux No. 729 Lahara 3

PERIU Bellincial Disserville SA Apartode 3834

PHILEPPINES
Notional Book Stars
701 Rinal Avenue
P.O. Bur 1994

POLAND ORPAN Potec Kultury i Nould

PORTUGAL Livrarie Partugal Rus Do Carmo 70-74

SAUDI ARABIA, QATAR Juriz Beek Store P.O. Bux 3196 Riyadh 11471

SINGAPORE, TARWAN, BURMA, BRUPHEI Information Publications Privini, Ltd. 02-05 Int FL, Pul-Pa Industrial Bidg. 24 New Industrial Road Singapore 1983

SOUTH APRICA For single titles Oxford University Press Southers Africa P.O. Bar. 1141

Cape Town 8000

Formboription order: International Subscription Service P.O. Box (1085 Craighall Johannesburg 2024 SPAIN Mundi-Prense Libres, S.A. Cassille 37 20001 Medrid

SRI LANKA AND THE MALDIVES Lake House Bookshop P.O. Bur 244 100, Str Chitempolem A. Gerdiner Movethe Colombo 2

SWEDEN
For single titles
Polities Fackbolusferstaget
Reportuggeten 12, Box 1 6356
S-103 27 Stockholm

For minoription orders Wattaugran-Williams AB Bar 30004 8-104 25 Stockholm

SWITZERLAND
For single tities
Libratele Poyet
6, rue Grenus
Case pastel 301
CH 1211 Gusava 11

For minoriphim orden: Libratio Poyet Service des Abennements Care postel 3312 CH 1002 Lineanne

TANZANIA Orderé University Press P.O. Nos. 5289 Der es Selacon

THAILAND Central Department Stero 304 Stern Rood Benglink

TRINEDAD & TOBAGO, ANTIGUA BARRUDA, BARRADOS, DOMINICA, GRENADA, GUYANA, JAMAICA, MONTSERRAT, ST. RITTS & NEVIS, ST. LUCIA, ST. VINCENT & GRENADINES Systematics Budies Unit 69 Water Breat Carryle Triville (A. 1998).

TURKEY Heest Khapuri, A.S. Intifial Caddan No. 469 Beyagha Intanbal

UGANDA Uganda Reokshop P.O. Bas: 7145

UNITED ARAB EMIRATES MEMIES Gulf Co. P.O. Bur 6097 Sharjah

UNITED KINGDOM
Microtafe Ltd
P.O. Bax 3
Alten, Hampshire GU34 2PG
Bagland

URUGUAY Institute Nacional del Libro Sun Jean 1116 Montevidan

VENEZUELA Libraria del Este Aptido, 60.337 Carson 1060-A

YUGOSLAVIA Juganlovanska Kujiga YU-11000 Belgrede Trg Republika

ZIMBABWE Longman Zimbabwe P.O Box 5T 125, Serumeton



## LSMS Working Papers (continued from the inside front cover)

No. 35	Tr Demand for Medical Care in Developing Countries: Quantity Rationing in Rusal Côte d'Ivoire
No. 36	Labor Market Activity in Côte d'Ivoire and Peru
No. 37	Health Care Financing and the Demand for Medical Care
No. 38	Wage Determinants and School Attainment among Men in Peru
No. 39	The Allocation of Goods within the Household: Adults, Children, and Gender
No. 40	The Effects of Household and Community Characteristics on the Nutrition of Freschool Children: Evidence from Rural Côte d'Ivoire
No. 41	Public-Private Sector Wage Differentials in Peru, 1985–86
No. 42	The Distribution of Welfare in Peru in 1995–86
No. 43	Profits from Self-Employment: A Case Study of Côte d'Ivoire
No. 44	The Living Standards Survey and Price Policy Reform: A Study of Cocoa and Coffee Production in Côte d'Ivoire
No. 45	Measuring the Willingness to Pay for Social Services in Developing Countries
No. 46	Nonagricultural Family Enterprises in Côte d'Ivoire: A Descriptive Analysis
No. 47	The Poor during Adjustment: A Case Study of Côte d'Ivoire
No. 48	Confronting Poverty in Developing Countries: Definitions, Information, and Policies
No. 49	Sample Designs for the Living Standards Surveys in Ghana and Mauritania / Plans de sondage pour les enquêtes sur le niveau de vie au Ghana et en Mauritanie
No. 50	Food Subsidies: A Case Study of Price Reform in Morocco (also in French, 50F)
No. 51	Côte d'Ivoire: Estimates for Child Anthropometry from Two Surveys, 1985 and 1986 (August 1989)
No. 52	Public-Private Sector Wage Comparisons and Moonlighting in Developing Countries: Evidence from Côte d'Ivoire and Peru
No. 53	Socioeconomic Determinants of Fertility in Côte d'Ivoire
No. 54	The Willingness to Pay for Education in Developing Countries: Evidence from Rural Peru
No. 55	Rigidité de salaire: donnée microeconomique et macroeconomique sur l'ajustement du marché du travail dans le secteur moderne (August 1989; in French only)
No. 56	The Poor in Latin America during Adjustment: A Case Study of Peru
No. 57	The Substitutability of Public and Private Health Care for the Treatment of Children in Pakistan
No. 58	Identifying the Poor: Is "Headship" a Useful Concept?
No. 50	I abor Market Performance as a Determinant of Micration



## The World Bank

Headquarters 1818 H Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20433, U.S.A.

Telephone: (202) 477-1234 Facsimile: (202) 477-6391 Telex: WUI 64145 WORLDBANK RCA 248423 WORLDBK

Cable Address: INTBAFRAD WASHINGTONDC

**European Office** 66, avenue d'Iéna 75116 Paris, France

Telephone: (1) 40.69.30 00 Facsimile: (1) 47.20.19.66

Telex: 842-620628

Tokyo Office Kokusai Building 1-1 Marunouchi 3-chome Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100, Japan

Telephone: (3) 214-5001 Facsimile: (3) 214-3657

Telex: 781-26838





